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Individual Meeting 

The intern first met with Dr. Brown on March 20, 2000 at the end of her sophomore year. 

She was interested in determining if a sort of prison ministry could work towards an internship. 

The intern was extremely nervous as she prepared for this meeting. However, she soon realized 

she had nothing to be worried about. The meeting with Dr. Brown proved to be very informative 

and helpful. Dr. Brown set many of the intern's fears to rest and she was confident that all the 

details for her internship would work out well. 

The intern again met with Dr. Brown in the fall of 2000, the beginning of the intern's 

junior year. This meeting included more of the specifics of the internship program. The intern 

brought her the internship manual, her resume, and her degree analysis progress report (DAPR) 

with her to the meeting. 

During this time, the intern also began a more in-depth search for an agency to intern 

with during the summer. The intern received a wealth of information from Justice Fellowship, a 

branch of Prison Fellowship Ministries. This is a ministry based in Washington, DC that 

integrates Christianity with the criminal justice system. The intern was interested in this 

opportunity because it would incorporate two of her fields of interest, ministry and criminal 

justice. The intern was connected with Kristin Hall, the Director of Human Resources at Prison 

Fellowship. These two individuals corresponded frequently to discuss possible internship 

opportunities. The intern became aware of an internship program located within this agency 

through the Justice Fellowship branch. The intern became very excited about this opportunity 

and quickly scheduled an appointment with Dr. Brown to discuss the details regarding this 

internship. Dr. Brown reviewed the information and agreed that it was a good opportunity for 

the intern. He told her that he would contact Ms. Hall at the agency and send her information 

about the intern. 



In the following months, the intern worked with Ms. Hall to arrange an interview via 

telephone as well as other details to finalize the internship. The intern was pleased to see that 

this internship was becoming a reality as time passed by. However, when the intern spoke with 

Ms. Hall in January of2001, Ms. Hall informed the intern that Prison Fellowship had lost a 

majority of its funding. The intern learned that the internship program through Justice 

Fellowship was no longer a possibility. 
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Upon hearing such news, the intern was disappointed. She frantically began to search for 

a new agency that would enable her to fulfill her internship requirements. The intern learned of 

the Evanston Community Defender Office through her father who does audit work for the 

agency. The intern then contacted the agency and expressed her desire to intern with there. She 

also met with Dr. Brown to update him on what had happened. She informed him of her 

opportunity to intern at the Defender Office. Dr. Brown then contacted the agency. 

The intern had a meeting at the agency on March 16, 2001. During this time, the intern 

met the staff of the agency: Nareen Kim (attorney at law), Robert Roy (attorney at law), 

Guadalupe Acosta-Nava (social worker), and Judith Aronson (secretary). The intern discussed 

the specifics of her internship as required by Ball State University with these individuals. The 

meeting lasted for approximately 1.5 hours. The intern was excited about this opportunity as she 

heard about the work this agency does, mainly concerning juveniles. The members of the 

agency welcomed the intern to their staff and were eager for her to start in the summer. The 

intern then reported the details of this meeting to Dr. Brown in a brief meeting after class. 

Group Meeting 

The group meeting for the summer interns was held on Saturday, December 2,2000. At 

this meeting, Dr. Brown and Dr. Brodt spoke to the interns regarding several areas of their 



internships. The first area that was discussed by Dr. Brown was the Internship Manual, which 

was to be purchased by the interns at the University Book Store. 
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Dr. Brown informed the interns that Ms. Carmichael would contact them about 

registering for the internship as a summer semester course. He also reminded the interns of the 

dates of the internship, May 14-July 20,2001. Dr. Brown cautioned the interns to take note of 

these dates in regards to weddings and other events that may take place during this ten-week time 

period. 

Dr. Brown advised the interns to schedule their interviews sometime within the next three 

weeks. This would be an ideal time for the interns as they would be on their winter break with a 

free schedule. This would also work well for interns that were planning on completing their 

internship in their hometown. 

Dr. Brown then discussed the requirements of the interns in order to receive credit for 

their internships. The main responsibility of the interns is the three activity reports. These 

activity reports provide the professors with an idea of what the interns have participated in at 

their individual agencies. Dr. Brown stressed the importance of keeping a daily journal of the 

intern's activities. He stated that this would aid the interns in writing their activity reports. 

Dr. Brown also mentioned the mid-semester meeting. This meeting is required for all 

interns participating in the internship program. He informed the interns that the meeting would 

take place on a Friday in Muncie during the middle of the internship. He emphasized that this 

meeting is mandatory. 

The interns were then given a brief break. Dr. Brodt ran the second part of this meeting. 

He discussed the activity reports in more detail. The interns were advised to refer to page ten of 

the Internship Manual. Dr. Brodt brought the third activity report to the interns' attention. He 
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,- noted that for summer interns, the third activity report would be included in the final report. 

Therefore, the third activity report would be about six pages in length. 

Dr. Brodt provided the interns with some general guidelines for the activity reports. Each 

report, as he stated, was to be ten pages in length. All reports should be professionally done. 

Finally, each report receives its own individual grade. Therefore, each report is crucial to the 

intern's grade and proofreading was highly suggested by Dr. Brodt. 

The activity reports were then discussed in more detail. The first activity report should 

include two pages on the intern's initial meeting with Dr. Brown. This should include the intern's 

thoughts and expectations prior to the meeting and following the meeting. These two pages 

should also include details of the meeting with Dr. Brown as well as the number of times the 

intern met with Dr. Brown. 

The second activity report should include details ofthe on-site meeting. For this intern, 

this meeting will involve Dr. Brodt. The intern is to write two pages regarding this on-site 

meeting. Another two pages of this report should include the on-campus meeting that the interns 

will have during the middle of their internship. 

Finally, the third activity report was discussed. This report should devote between three 

and five pages to the stated objectives of the internship program. The intern should analyze 

those objectives and discuss if the objectives were satisfied by hislher internship experience. 

The third activity report for summer interns will include the final report. The final report 

is to be twenty pages in length, not including diagrams or tables. It should discuss the history of 

the agency. The report should also explain the responsibilities of the intern. Any forms that the 

intern used should be included to help the reader understand the intern's activities. The report 

should be placed in a binder with the pages inserted in plastic pages. 



The meeting then shifted topics. Various stages of the interviewing process were 

described to the interns. The interns were also advised as to appropriate dress for interviews. A 

handout was given to the interns to aid them in the application and interviewing process. More 

details regarding the internship were briefly discussed. The interns were then dismissed. 
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This intern left the meeting feeling both overwhelmed and excited. This meeting helped 

the intern realize that her internship was rapidly approaching. Following the meeting, the intern 

made a list of things she needed to accomplish in order to begin a successful internship. The 

intern enjoyed the meeting. The information provided was helpful. She appreciated the 

opportunity to look at past activity reports and final reports from former interns to gain an idea of 

what is expected of her. She also enjoyed meeting other interns that will share her experiences in 

the summer. 

Internship Activities: Week One 

The intern started her internship on Monday, May 14,2001. She contacted her 

supervisor at the internship site on Tuesday, May 8, 2001 to discuss the details of her first day. 

Nareen Kim, attorney at law, is the intern's supervisor this summer at the Evanston Community 

Defender Office. Ms. Kim advised the intern to arrive at the office at 9:00 AM on the following 

Monday. The intern learned during this conversation that she would be attending court for her 

first day. 

The intern arrived at the Defender Office at 8:45 AM on Monday, May 14,2001. Ms. 

Kim had not yet arrived. While waiting for her to arrive, the intern spoke with Judith Aronson, 

the secretary. Ms. Kim arrived around 9:00. Also arriving were Christopher Nathan, an intern 

__ from Northwestern University, and Guadalupe Acosta-Nava, the social worker at the Defender 

Office. These four individuals then attended the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois. 
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The intern quickly learned that the office attends court every Monday. The Evanston 

Community Defender Office works with the indigent youth of the community of Evanston. A 

number of their juvenile clients (over 150 are currently represented by this agency) have court 

dates on Mondays for various reasons (trial, progress report, arraignment etc.). During this 

particular court session, the intern observed the action of the courtroom. Ms. Kim, Ms. Acosta­

Nava and Mr. Nathan all were in and out of the courtroom. The intern later learned that the three 

were talking with clients about their cases outside of the courtroom. 

Mr. Robert Roy was also present in the courtroom. He is another attorney at law at the 

Evanston Community Defender Office. He completes the staff of the office. The entire staff 

consists ofMr. Roy, Ms. Aronson, Ms. Kim, Ms. Acosta-Nava, and, temporarily, the two interns. 

Also present in the courtroom was Mr. John Molinaro, a probation officer that works with many 

of the agency's clients. Others present during this court session were the juveniles, assistant 

state's attorneys, the court clerk, the bailiff, the judge, probation officers, social workers, public 

defenders, and witnesses. 

During this court session, the intern witnessed several juveniles called before the judge. 

Many of the juveniles were on probation. Involved in the probation for many ofthese juveniles 

was mandatory attendance at school, counseling, community service, and no contact with the 

court or police. Many of the juveniles present violated their probation. This is called a Violation 

of Probation, or VOP. 

The court session was rather brief on this particular date. The intern returned to the 

office with her co-workers around noon. She was then told by Ms. Kim to take an hour for a 

lunch break. They agreed to meet in Ms. Kim's office in approximately one hour. 

The intern and Ms. Kim met in Ms. Kim's office for about one hour. During this time, 

they discussed confidentiality. Ms. Kim wanted the intern to understand the attorney-client 



realized that did not have much experience with the various activities that would be expected of 

her during the course of this internship. 
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The second day of the internship, this intern spent most of her day reading material that 

Ms. Kim had left for her (see appendix E). She read through the files of two adult cases that Ms. 

Kim was working on. The Defender Office does accept a few adults as clients. However, all 

clients are under the age of 21. The intern found these cases to be very interesting. One of the 

cases was a sex case, while the other case was an armed robbery case. 

The intern also read through the Illinois Book of Law to become more familiar with 

certain laws and statutes in Illinois. She spent much of her time reading through the Juvenile 

Court Act of 1987 (see appendix F), which has had a large impact on the juvenile justice system 

in Illinois. 

During the afternoon, an all-office meeting was held in which the staff conducted a case 

review. This is not a common practice at this particular agency. However, Ms. Kim has been 

attempting to purge the old cases out of the office. Some other issues were discussed as well, 

such as confidentiality, a Local Area Network (LAN) Resource Fair (see appendices G-H), how 

to handle case review in the future, a research/statistics project, and client follow-up. This 

concluded the intern's second day. 

The third day of this internship began with the LAN Resource Fair. This intern and the 

other intern, Mr. Nathan, went with Ms. Acosta-Nava to the DCFS building in Skokie, IL to help 

set up the Resource Fair, which was to take place the following day. 

Following the set-up, the intern went with Ms. Acosta-Nava to a meeting regarding a 

client at Lawrence Hall Youth Services, an alternative high school that can also be used as a 

residential placement for youth. This facility is located in Chicago. The particular meeting was 

a staffing meeting in which several different professionals discussed the youth's progress. The 



- individuals present were Ms. Acosta-Nava (the social worker), a probation officer, the youth's 

mother, and a representative of Lawrence Hall. The intern was excited to participate in this 

meeting. However, the youth asked that the intern not be involved in the meeting. He felt 

uncomfortable with her present. Therefore, the intern returned to the office. She was 

disappointed that she could not participate in the meeting. She did understand the youth's 

request. 
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At the office, the intern met with Mr. Roy and Mr. Nathan. The three of them viewed a 

video regarding alternatives to traditional sentencing. These three individuals then discussed the 

video. They questioned the longevity of some alternatives discussed in the video. They also 

questioned the public's support of such programs. 

The fourth day of the internship was the Resource Fair. The intern, along with the other 

.-. staff from the agency, sat at a booth designated for the Evanston Community Defender Office. 

They answered questions from individuals coming through the fair. The fair had representatives 

from many agencies within the community that cater to the youth of Evanston (see appendices 

G-H). The fair was designed to inform members ofthe community as well as other professionals 

in the juvenile justice system about the resources available to the youth. Many professionals 

attended, and a small number of community members attended. 

The intern enjoyed the Resource Fair. It enabled her to learn about the different agencies 

that exist in Evanston as well as the services they offer. This fair was a relaxed setting that 

enabled the intern to spend some informal time with her co-workers. The intern believed that 

she began to establish deeper relationships with her co-workers as a result of this time. 

The last day of the intern's first week at this agency was a busy day. She read through 

,-, the file of a client that had an appointment with Ms. Kim at 1 :00 that afternoon. The intern 

familiarized herself with this client's case and was eager to meet him. She was ready to have 



contact with a client. However, the client did not attend the meeting. Ms. Kim informed the 

intern that this is very common of clients at this agency. 
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The intern also read through the files of four boys that were involved in sex cases. Their 

cases were kept out of court under the condition that the boys attended counseling. Ms. Kim 

asked the intern to call the legal guardians of these four clients to find out the clients' progress in 

regards to counseling. The intern was nervous to make these phone calls. She did call all four 

houses and received no answer. Ms. Kim told the intern that this is common as well. 

The intern then spent some time discussing the juvenile court process with Ms. Kim. 

This time was very informative for the intern as Ms. Kim described step-by-step how the process 

works. Ms. Kim also explained to the intern how to interview a client. Ms. Kim would like the 

intern to conduct an interview with a client in the coming week. 

The last activity of this intern during her first week was a meeting with Mr. Roy and a 

client. The purpose of this meeting was to fill out "wrap forms." Wrap forms are used with the 

Local Area Network (LAN) (see appendices I-K). The LAN group has representatives from 

many different agencies that provide services to members of the community. The purpose ofa 

LAN wrap meeting is to "wrap" the client with services from the community in order to improve 

hislher situation. 

The intern met with Mr. Roy and this client for approximately two hours. The client was 

a mother of two children. One of her children, her son, was present. The purpose of this 

meeting was basically paperwork. However, this client spoke to a great extent about the 

mistreatment she has received from many of the individuals in the system that are supposed to be 

helping her. The paperwork was then completed. The intern had compassion for this woman's 

situation. It was frustrating to hear the complaints of this woman. This woman had honest and 

valid concerns that should have been addressed long ago. 



-
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At the end of the first week, the intern found herself to be exhausted emotionally, 

mentally, and physically. She reflected on her week and realized that she would learn much this 

summer from her clients as well as her co-workers. The intern also realized that the Defender 

Office appears to be a very liberal office. Being more of a conservative, the intern wondered if 

this would be a factor during her time at the office. She also wondered if more conservatives go 

into prosecution where liberals, in general, go into defense work. 

Overall, the intern was satisfied with her first week. She e-mailed Dr. Brodt to inform 

him that her first week went well. The intern also provided Dr. Brodt with contact information 

for Ms. Kim should he need to contact her. 

Internship Activities: Week Two 

On Monday of the intern's second week, she again attended court with the same 

individuals as the previous week. This week was different than the previous week because the 

intern was able to sit in on some of the meetings Ms. Kim had with her clients. The intern was 

very interested in this. 

The intern was also able to witness how the members of the courtroom workgroup 

interact. For example, Ms. Kim met with a client and decided she would try to plea bargain the 

client's case and reduce his charges. She then spoke with an Assistant State's Attorney (ASA). 

He agreed to her terms. Ms. Kim then returned to the client and informed him about what 

happened. She then went before the judge with the client and the ASA present. The client pled 

guilty to certain charges (which were reduced from the original charges). The judge then asked 

the minor a series of questions to make sure he understood his rights and was competent to plead 

guilty. The minor's plea was then entered. 



-
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After court, the intern returned to the office and attempted to reach the guardians of the 

four boys involved in counseling for their sex cases. She again failed to get in contact with any 

of the guardians. Ms. Kim told the intern to draft a letter to the guardians and to mail it out to 

them. The intern did so. 

The final activity of Monday was a pizza party. Mr. Roy generously ordered pizza for 

the office. The members of the office ate pizza together and discussed informal issues. During 

this time, the staff informed the two interns about the certain ASA's habits. They also discussed 

other members of the courtroom. It was interesting for this intern to hear their opinions about 

certain individuals. 

Tuesday of the intern's second week began with a Child & Adolescent LAN (Local Area 

Network) meeting at Evanston Township High School (ETHS). This LAN group holds meetings 

once a month (see appendices I-M). There were members present from different agencies in the 

community that provide services to the youth of Evanston. There are various committees that 

have been developed involving members of the LAN committee, such as the Program 

Committee, the Membership Committee, and the Advocacy Committee. These committees 

updated the LAN group about their progress. The intern did not understand much of this 

meeting because she did not have much background regarding the discussed topics. 

Following this meeting, the intern returned to the office and read through some files of 

clients that will have court dates in the near future. While she was doing this, Mr. Roy asked this 

intern and Mr. Nathan to meet with him. During this meeting, Mr. Roy informed the interns of 

three projects he has been contemplating for the interns to work on. The first project deals with 

an attempted robbery case that is up for trial in mid-June. Mr. Roy asked that the interns become 

familiar with this case and assist him in issuing subpoenas and in other related casework. 
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The second project Mr. Roy had in mind dealt with the Advocacy Committee (see 

appendices N-O). Mr. Roy is the chair of the Advocacy Committee, one of the LAN 

committees. This project would involve some research of the legal system in Illinois as well as 

researching the representatives of the people of Evanston on the local, states, and federal levels. 

The third project deals with immigration. This would mainly focus on the Latino 

community in Evanston. Mr. Roy suggested that Mr. Nathan work on this committee because he 

is bilingual in Spanish. 

Mr. Roy then spoke with the interns about the process of a trial. He compared a trial to 

theatre. He used the film The Princess Bride as an example. Peter Faulk is the storyteller in that 

film. Mr. Roy suggested that an attorney is similar to Peter Faulk's character. An attorney tells 

the story to the jury/judge, but he/she is also a part of the story. He also compared an attorney to 

a plumber. Both of these individuals must determine which tool will work best in each situation. 

Wednesday and Thursday of this week were slow days. The intern attended court with 

Ms. Kim for one case on each day. These cases were misdemeanors and not much happened 

with either of these cases during these court sessions. The rest of the day, the intern spent time 

reading through various cases given to her by Mr. Roy and Ms. Kim. 

On Thursday, the intern was supposed to interview a client for the first time. The intern 

was both excited and nervous about this opportunity. However, the client did not show. The 

intern was disappointed. She called the client to determine why the client did not attend the 

scheduled meeting. Unfortunately, there was no answer at the client's residence. 

On Friday of the second week of this internship, the intern drove with Mr. Nathan to 

Chicago. The interns were to meet Ms. Acosta-Nava at Audy, a detention center for juveniles. 

--.' The three were going to meet with the two clients that are currently in custody at Audy. 

However, Ms. Acosta-Nava called this intern on her way to Audy to tell the intern that her car 
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had broken down. Ms. Acosta-Nava informed the intern that she would not be able to meet the 

two interns at Audy and that they should return to the office. Once the interns reached the office, 

this intern's car experienced problems as well. The intern immediately drove her car home 

before it experienced further complications. This was not serious, however, because the office 

closed early for the Memorial Day weekend. 

The intern felt more confident during her second week as an intern. She was more aware 

of her responsibilities and of her role at the office. She did find the amount of reading to be 

extensive. However, she did understand that reading the files is necessary to understand the 

clients and the action of the attorneys. 

The intern also made contact with Dr. Brodt this week regarding the on-site visit. Dr. 

Brodt spoke with Ms. Kim. The two agreed on June 7 for the date of the on-site visit. 



Internship Experience 

Evanston Community Defender Office 

July 6,2001 

Activity Report Two 



On-site Meeting 

Dr. Brodt came to visit this intern at the Evanston Community Defender Office on 

Thursday, June 7,2001. The meeting was scheduled for 11 :00. However, it started around 

1 

11 :30 because Dr. Brodt had car troubles on his way to the meeting. The meeting began with the 

intern, Nareen Kim (the intern's supervisor), and Dr. Brodt. Dr. Brodt also met Guadalupe 

Acosta-Nava, the agency's social worker. 

Ms. Kim, Dr. Brodt, and the intern discussed various topics. They discussed the intern's 

progress thus far. Dr. Brodt learned that the intern had been witnessing much of the juvenile 

justice system during her time at the agency. She has been able to attend court several times as 

well as participate in meetings with her co-workers. Dr. Brodt also learned that the intern has 

been working on several projects. One ofthese projects involves Robert Roy, another lawyer at 

the agency. 

Mr. Roy arrived around 11 :50 after attending court. He explained to Dr. Brodt in some 

detail the project that the intern has been working on with him. Mr. Roy is the head of the 

Advocacy Committee, a sub-committee of the Local Area Network (LAN) committee (see 

appendices N-O). The Advocacy Committee is designed to examine issues inhibiting efficient 

service and/or negatively affecting cooperation or collaboration. The committee then, through 

advocacy, offers suggestions for systematic change. Mr. Roy asked the intern to do some 

research for the committee. The intern prepared a listing of all government and city officials that 

represent the residents of Evanston. She also gathered information on the legislative process and 

how one might pursue the lobbying process. 

Dr. Brodt also learned of another project the intern has been working on with Ms. 

Acosta-Nava. The intern has been going through Ms. Acosta-Nava's resource files and updating 

~--~- ~-----
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them. These files contain agencies from the Evanston and Chicago land area that provide 

services to the agency's clients in one form or another. Adoption agencies, health care agencies, 

counseling centers, and alternative schools are some examples of these agencies. The intern has 

been busy calling these agencies to request updated information. While working on this project, 

the intern has gained a greater knowledge of the services available to the clients in the 

community. 

Mr. Roy and Dr. Brodt also spoke about the internship program at Ball State University. 

Mr. Roy was interested in knowing how many interns are involved in the program. Dr. Brodt 

provided a wealth of information about the internship program as well as the Department of 

Criminal Justice & Criminology at Ball State. 

There was also some discussion of the court system in Cook County, Illinois. The Cook 

County system was compared to the systems in different counties by those present (see 

appendices A-B). They discussed their interactions with the court system in different areas of 

the country. 

Finally, Dr. Brodt reminded the intern of the internship meeting. This meeting is to take 

place on Friday, June 15,2001 in Muncie, Indiana. This is approximately one week from the 

date of this on-site meeting. 

Dr. Brodt then left the agency. His next destination was Munster, Indiana to visit another 

intern. This concluded the on-site meeting for this intern. 

The intern was pleased with the on-site meeting. She thought that Dr. Brodt was able to 

gain an understanding of the activities she has been participating in during her time at her 

internship. She was also pleased to receive her first activity report from Dr. Brodt. He told her it 



.- was fine and he had made no written comments on it. This was encouraging to the intern as she 

learned that she was accurately fulfilling the internship requirements. 
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The intern enjoyed this on-site meeting because she was able to hear what her co-workers 

thought of her and her work. Both Mr. Roy and Ms. Kim stated that they enjoyed her presence 

in the office. They also found her to be helpful with the work in the office. This also pleased the 

intern. 

Mid-term On Campus Meeting 

The mid-term on campus meeting took place on Friday, June 15,2001. The interns were 

told to meet at the E.B. Ball Center at 9:00am. This intern left Thursday and spent that night in 

Muncie. She was aware it would be difficult for her to drive from the Chicago area to Muncie by 

9:00am. Upon arrival, the interns were told which room they would be meeting in based on their 

supervisors. Dr. Brodt's interns were on the second floor and Dr. Brown's interns met on the 

third floor. This intern was in Dr. Brodt's group on the second floor. 

The interns met around a large table with Dr. Brodt at the head. Dr. Brodt began this 

meeting by providing the interns with an agenda for the meeting (see appendix P). He then 

briefly explained the different items that would be discussed throughout the course of the 

meeting. He first discussed the overview of the entire internship process. He explained that the 

process starts so early in order to provide students with adequate placements, which can be 

difficult to find. 

The next segment of the meeting was designed for the interns to share their experiences 

at their agencies. This intern quickly learned that the internships for this summer term covered 

many different agencies within the criminal justice system. There were interns present from 



prosecutor's offices, probation offices, police departments, victims' assistance, sheriffs 

departments, and many more. This intern found it to be interesting that she was the only intern 

doing defense work. It was informative for this intern to learn about what her fellow classmates 

have been learning and doing during the course of their internships. 
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Dr. Brodt then went on to discuss in more detail the next two activity reports. He 

recommended that the interns include between one and two pages devoted to the on-site meeting. 

It was also recommended to include two pages based on the on-campus meeting. Also included 

in this report should be the intern's activities since the first activity report. Dr. Brodt strongly 

suggested that the interns proofread their reports before submitting them to Dr. Brodt. 

The discussion then moved to the third activity report. This report should contain the 

objectives listed on pages five and six of the internship manual. The intern should evaluate 

hislher experience at their agency based on these objectives. Dr. Brodt decided that the interns 

could write this report from a first-person perspective as opposed to third person, as was done 

with the first two activity reports. Dr. Brodt stated that this report could be placed in the pocket 

of the binder in which the final report will be submitted. 

Dr. Brown and Dr. Brodt then switched groups and conducted faculty evaluations. Upon 

completion of the evaluation, the interns were free to leave for lunch. 

The meeting resumed at 1 :OOpm. At this time, Dr. Brodt handed the interns their files. 

The purpose of this was to allow the interns to view how the faculty has been grading them as 

well as all of the information the faculty has in regards to them. 

After viewing their files, all of the interns gathered on the third floor. At this time, Dr. 

Brown and Dr. Brodt handed out past interns' final reports. This intern found that to be helpful. 

She was able to see what the final report looked like. She was also somewhat surprised to see 



_ that there were not any final reports from interns that had previously interned at a defense 

attorney's office. This intern looked at a final report from a Prosecutor's office. 
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Dr. Brown and Dr. Brodt also gave the interns a packet that detailed each part of the final 

report. The intern found this to be helpful as well. The two supervisors led the interns through 

this packet and explained each item to make sure the interns understood what was expected of 

them. After going through the final report, the interns were dismissed. The interns were 

reminded to keep in touch with their supervisors throughout the remainder of the internship. 

This intern found the on-campus meeting to be an informative time. She learned much 

about the placements of other interns. She also gained much valuable information regarding the 

final report. Upon leaving this meeting, this intern felt confident to complete the final report. 

_ Internship Activities: Week Three 

Week three of this internship began on Tuesday, May 29 as Monday was Memorial Day 

and the office was closed for the holiday. The intern spent much of this day working on two 

different cases. Both involved many phone calls to both the clients and the Evanston Police 

Department. The intern learned how difficult it can be to get a simple question answered due to 

the many departments within the police department. 

On Wednesday of this week, the intern went to court with Mr. Roy for a pre-trail motion 

for a robbery trial. The motion was a motion to eliminate. Mr. Roy was arguing that a detective 

from the Evanston Police Department received evidence in an illegal fashion and made the arrest 

of Mr. Roy's client based on that evidence. The judge decided that some of the evidence would 

be allowed in the case while other evidence would be eliminated. 



-
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This motion was very interesting for the intern to observe. She enjoyed watching the Mr. 

Roy and the Assistant State's Attorney argue their case. This allowed the intern to witness what 

trial law is like. The intern was also given the opportunity to talk with Mr. Roy and the client 

after the motion. 

Mr. Roy then introduced the intern to the juvenile probation officers in this Cook County 

district (see appendices). It was interesting for the intern to see that these probation officers 

were friends with Mr. Roy. This reminded the intern of the courtroom workgroup that was 

commonly discussed in her Introduction to Courts class at Ball State University. 

Mr. Roy then spoke with the intern about the basics of law. He focused on the 

differences between criminal and civil law. The intern had heard much of the information 

before, but it was interesting because Mr. Roy included stories from his experience as an 

attorney to explain the facts. This really made the law come alive to the intern. 

On Thursday of this week, the intern was again in court. She was there with Mr. Roy, 

Ms. Kim, and Mr. Nathan. Ms. Kim had to continue a case to a later court date in order to 

receive some evidence. After that, Ms. Kim showed the intern how to use the computer in the 

court clerk's office to find the status of certain cases. Ms. Kim and Mr. Roy then left the intern 

and Mr. Nathan, the other intern, at court. The interns were allowed to float in and out of 

different courtrooms to learn more about this courthouse in Cook County, Illinois. 

This intern ventured into courtroom 208. This courtroom is a Chicago courtroom. She 

saw an attorney arguing a case. Later, the intern was informed that this attorney is a former 

Assistant State's Attorney and is now a defense lawyer. This attorney was amusing to watch 

while he cross-examined a witness for the State. The intern appreciated the liberty given to her 

by her supervisors to explore the court on her own. 
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The intern then returned to the office. She had a meeting with Ms. Kim to discuss the 

progress of the internship. They both agreed that the intern had learned much by witnessing the 

court system in action. The intern also had many opportunities thus far to interact with clients. 

The intern and her supervisor agreed that the intern would enjoy having a project. Ms. Kim 

stated that she would speak to Mr. Roy and determine an appropriate project for the intern. 

7 

On the last day of this third week, the intern spent a majority of her time working on a 

project with Mr. Roy. She researched the local and federal representatives of the citizens of 

Evanston. This was done for the Advocacy Committee, a sub-committee of the Local Area 

Network Committee. The intern then compiled her research and printed it out for Mr. Roy. She 

also researched how one begins the lobbying process. She also compiled this information and 

printed it out for Mr. Roy (see appendices N-O). 

The intern also worked on the court call for Monday. The court call is simply a typed list 

of the clients that will be in court on Monday along with their case numbers. The intern also 

worked with Mr. Roy on printing out subpoenas for a trial the following Wednesday. 

The intern contacted Dr. Brodt on this date to inform him that her internship has been 

going well. She also asked him if he needed directions to the office for their on-site meeting the 

following Thursday. 

Internship Activities: Week Four 

Monday of this week was spent in court. The intern did attendance for the clients. She 

went out of the courtroom and called the names of the clients to see who was present. After most 

of the cases were called, Ms. Acosta-Nava and Ms. Kim left. The intern remained in court with 
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_ Mr. Roy, who had one case left. This particular client "gave the judge attitude". The judge was 

not pleased and asked Mr. Roy to take her out of the courtroom and talk to her. 

The intern then returned to the office and work on making new letterhead for the office 

for a fund-raising campaign they will soon start. She also made several copies of the court 

minute sheets that this agency uses. 

The intern read through several cases Tuesday morning. She also spent much of the 

morning answering phone calls. In the afternoon, the intern met with Ms. Acosta-Nava, the 

office's social worker. She asked the intern to go through her files on services that are available 

to her clients. She asked the intern to read through these files and then call the agencies and 

request updated information. The intern began this project and found it to be very interesting. 

She was able to learn a lot about the different agencies in the Evanston area as a result of this 

_ project. The intern also did some research on a case for Ms. Kim that afternoon. 

-

On Wednesday of this week, the intern did some more work on her project for Ms. 

Acosta-Nava. She also spoke with Ms. Kim about arranging a tour at st. Charles, a juvenile 

correctional facility in Illinois. The intern then called the facility to arrange a tour. Later that 

afternoon, the intern went through the filing cabinets to make sure that all of the files were in 

their proper place. The intern had scheduled an interview with a client. However, the client did 

not show up for the appointment. 

Thursday of this week, Dr. Brodt came to visit the intern at the Defender Office. That 

meeting lasted for approximately 1.5 hours. The intern enjoyed that meeting. Later that day, the 

intern worked on her project some more. She also worked on some more subpoenas for a case. 

Mr. Roy then met with this intern and Mr. Nathan and they discussed a case that is going to trial 

the following Wednesday. Mr. Roy explained that all cases could be broken down to two 

-----------------------------------"" ---"" 



_ simple questions: Was there a crime committed? Who did it? The three discussed different 

angles to take with this case. Mr. Roy then explained to the interns the way he typically 

organizes his cases. The intern found this to be very interesting. 

Finally, Friday of this week arrived. The intern attended a Local Area Network (LAN) 

meeting. This was a meeting for the DCFS subcommittee (see appendix M). The intern 

followed this meeting as best as she could. However, it was difficult because she did not know 

much of the terminology that was being used. 

The intern then attended the Advocacy Committee, another subcommittee of the LAN 

(see appendices N-O). Mr. Roy shared with the committee the information that the intern had 

compiled. The intern took notes at this meeting so she could later discuss them with Mr. Roy. 
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In the afternoon, the intern attended court with Mr. Roy for a shoplifting case. The intern 

,- also stayed after that case to watch a few more cases. It was her first time in this particular 

courtroom. This concluded the intern's fourth week at the Evanston Community Defender 

Office. 

Internship Activities: Week Five 

Monday morning of this week was spent in court. The intern again took an attendance of 

the clients who were present. The regular judge of this juvenile court was not present today. The 

presiding judge did not have adequate knowledge of many of the cases to make decisions. 

Therefore, many of the cases were continued to the following week. 

Following court, the intern went out to lunch with Ms. Kim, Ms. Acosta-Nava, and Mr. 

Nathan. The four ate at the Cheesecake Factory. The intern enjoyed this social time with her co-

,.-. workers. She has found it difficult to develop relationships with her co-workers while they are 
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constantly working. This gave the intern the opportunity to know her co-workers on a more 

social level. 
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The intern then returned to the office and worked on typing out notes from the Advocacy 

Committee meeting that she had attended the previous week. She also called a few more 

agencies to update Ms. Acosta-Nava's files. 

On Tuesday of this week, the intern spent most of her time working on a Department of 

Children and Family Services (DCFS) Case. This particular case is rather complicated. It also 

deals more with civil law than criminal law. Yet, Ms. Kim agreed to help this client because she 

is the mother of one of the agency's clients. The intern spent much time making phone calls and 

reading through files in order to determine how to best handle the situation. 

On Wednesday of this week, the intern went to the Cook County Juvenile Detention 

Center, also known as Audy, in Chicago. She accompanied Ms. Acosta-Nava to visit with a 

client. The intern was very interested in learning about the system at Audy. The client told her 

about the different levels the residents have. There are four levels, the fourth being the highest. 

The minors can be promoted to a higher level through exhibiting good behavior. As the levels 

escalate, the opportunities for the individual increase. For example, this client was a level-four 

resident. Due to his status, he is able to use the weight-room. 

After meeting with the client, Ms. Acosta-Nava showed the intern the main floor of the 

facility. This is where the courtrooms are located. There are courtrooms for delinquency on one 

side of the facility and courtrooms for child abuse on the opposite side. The delinquency section 

was very dark and plain. On the other hand, the child abuse section was bright and decorated 

with toys. 
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Upon her return to the office, the intern did some more work on the DCFS case that she 

had been working on the previous day. She also called different legal aid agencies to find a 

lawyer for a client that was going through a child custody case. This particular agency does not 

deal with child custody cases. This was also Mr. Nathan's last day interning at the Defender 

Office. 

On Thursday of this week, the intern read through some files and worked on some 

paperwork for Ms. Kim. The intern was allowed to leave early on this day in order to drive to 

Muncie for her internship meeting. The following day, that meeting was held. 

Internship Activities: Week Six 

Monday of this week was spent in court. This was a hectic day for the Evanston 

Community Defender Office as many clients were in court today. There were around 12 

juveniles in court today as well as 2 adult cases. This is very unusual when compared to the 

seven juvenile cases usually up on Mondays. 

Tuesday of this week, the intern worked some more on the DCFS case with Ms. Kim. 

The intern and Ms. Kim went downstairs to the Legal Aid Foundation to talk to Mr. William 

Kolen about the case. He and Ms. Kim decided to file a joint civil law suit. 

Following that meeting, the intern accompanied Mr. Roy to a Local Area Network (LAN) 

Family and Child Team meeting regarding a LAN wrap for a local family (see appendices I-K). 

Those present at the meeting represented different agencies such as Park School, Willowglen 

Academy, Metropolitan Family Services, and Resources for Living. The purpose of this meeting 

was to determine a list of the services that the family could use as well as a budget for these 

services. The LAN only provides so much money for each case. The meeting needed to 

accomplish these goals in order to present the information to the LAN committee the following 
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Tuesday. However, this goal was not accomplished. Many of those present had different 

opinions on the subject matter. The mother of this family was also present at the meeting and 

she had some concerns as well. As one individual noted, the meeting seemed like group therapy. 

The group decided to meet again in July in the hopes of getting the goals accomplished. 

Following this meeting, the intern typed out the notes that she had taken at the LAN wrap 

meeting. She then submitted them to Mr. Roy so that he could incorporate them into his notes. 

The intern also talked with Ms. Kim about a new case. 

Wednesday of this week was also spent in court. The intern arrived at the Cook County 

Court at 9:30 am. She was there to see Mr. Roy present a motion to quash arrest and suppress 

evidence regarding a robbery case. The case was called around 11 :00, but the client was not yet 

present. Therefore, the judge agreed to call it again later in the afternoon. The case was called 

again at 1 :30 after the court took a recess for lunch. 

For this motion, the burden of proof lies with the defendant. Therefore, Mr. Roy was the 

first one to call witnesses. He called the defendant to the stand to testify as to what happened 

when he was arrested. The Assistant State's Attorney (ASA) then cross-examined the defendant. 

Mr. Roy had no more witnesses. The State then called a police officer to the stand. This officer 

is the detective that was assigned to the robbery case and arrested the defendant. The ASA 

directly examined this witness and Mr. Roy followed with a cross-examination. Following this, 

both the State and the Defense gave arguments. Mr. Roy argued that the officer did not have 

probable cause to arrest the defendant. Mr. Roy used past cases to prove his point. The ASA 

then argued her case. The judge thought about the motion for several minutes. She then 

informed the court that she would need more time to think about the motion. It was agreed that 

all parties should meet back in the courtroom on Friday morning. 
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The intern arrived at work on Thursday morning and spent much time answering phone 

calls. She also read through a few cases. Thursday was the first day of Ms. Kim's vacation. The 

intern was aware of this and knew that she would not have much to do during Ms. Kim's 

absence. She also spent time working on some reports. 

On the final day of this week, the intern accompanied Ms. Acosta-Nava to the Cook 

County Juvenile Detention Center. They visited the same client that they visited the previous 

week. He was doing very well. The juvenile has plans to get a job once he is out of jail. He 

does not want to repeat his mistakes. Hopefully, he will follow through with his plans. 

Unfortunately, most do not. 

Internship Activities: Week Seven 

Week seven of this internship again began in court. The intern spent much of her day 

there observing courtroom activity. She then returned to the office and did some research of 

various agencies for Ms. Acosta-Nava. 

Overall, this week was very slow for the intern. With Ms. Kim on vacation and Ms. 

Acosta-Nava in training this week, there was not much work for the intern to do. Mr. Roy was 

also out of the office working on various things throughout the week. The intern mostly 

answered phones and worked on a few projects. The intern was also able to work on a petition to 

expunge for a client that will be appearing in court on the following Monday (see appendix Q). 

The intern did not mind having a break from the normal routine. It gave her time to read some 

documents and files that she had been wanting to read but did not have time. The intern was also 

able to do some reading in A Civil Action, a book by Jonathan Harr, that Mr. Roy suggested to 

her. This concludes the seventh week ofthis intern's experience at the Evanston Community 

Defender Office. 



Internship Experience 

Evanston Community Defender Office 

July 18, 2001 

Activity Report Three 



-

-

Objectives of the Internship Program 

Become involved in the roles and functions of criminal justice agencies and through this 

involvement become effective in the criminal justice system. 

1 

I believe that I have gained a true understanding of the criminal justice system, 

specifically defense work as a result of this internship. I have attended court with the attorneys 

at the Evanston Community Defender Office at least once a week. That time spent in court is 

when I gained the most insight into the criminal justice system. I was able to view the courtroom 

workgroup and how its many players interact. 

I not only learned about the courts system, but I also learned about policing and 

corrections. I read police reports often as they related to clients' cases. I was also able to visit a 

client in the Cook County Juvenile Detention Center, which serves as the juvenile jail. I learned 

about the operations at this particular detention center. 

I have specifically learned much about defense work during my time at the Defender 

Office. I have been able to witness as well as participate in the meetings that the attorneys and 

the social worker have with the clients. The attorneys in this particular office serve many roles. 

They not only provide legal assistance to clients, but they also attend community meetings. The 

members of this office have a true desire to prevent clients from returning to the system. 

I have also learned much about the supervisory relationship. I consider myself to be 

timid. It is often difficult for me to approach others, especially in a situation where I am not 

comfortable. Therefore, this area was a challenge for me. I do believe that I have grown in this 

area. However, I do recognize that it remains and area for me to work on. This is a weakness 
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_ that I became aware of in my time at the Defender Office and I did make a conscious effort to 

develop that weakness into a strength. 

-

Acquire knowledge and develop basic skills of criminal justice intervention through the 

rendering of services. 

This internship taught me the importance of knowing how to effectively work in both 

group and one-on-one settings. Given the nature of this office (small number employees), most 

of my time was spent working with just one other person. However, there were also times when 

everyone in the agency would work together. It was sometimes difficult for me to adjust because 

I was not always clear as to my role as the intern. 

I did have many opportunities to participate in meetings with those in the office as well as 

members of other agencies. I did not have many opportunities to speak because I was not very 

educated on most of the subject matter. I often submitted written reports of these meetings to 

Mr. Roy for his files. I did engage in conversation with members of the Defender Office 

frequently. I would often meet with Mr. Roy to discuss a case or a principle of criminal law. 

Integrate theoretical learning and practical experiences 

After a few weeks working at the Evanston Community Defender Office, I found that I 

was able to apply many of the theories and practical applications I had learned to various cases 

and situations. For example, I could often determine what action the lawyers would take in court 

on various cases. As time went on, I was also able to determine what services the social worker 

might offer to a given client based on their need. I found myself understanding the system more 

and more as my internship progressed. This understanding enabled me to accurately identify the 

direction of a case. 
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Personal Development 

This internship helped me develop as a person. I realized many character traits that I 

possess throughout the course of my internship. Some of these were positive traits while others 

were negative. For example, I realized that I am a conscientious worker. When given a task, I 

was eager to complete it to the satisfaction of my supervisors. A weakness I realized was my 

lack of initiative. I often hesitated in approaching my supervisors. Discovering these traits made 

me more aware of who I am as an individual. This facilitated growth on a personal level as I 

sought to continue to develop positive traits and to change the negative traits. 

Professional Development 

This internship had a profound impact on my professional growth. It enabled me to 

participate in the criminal justice system in a very real way. Many of the principles and ideas 

that I had been discussing and reading about for several years finally became a reality. I was 

able to apply much of what was learned in my classes to real life situations. The internship 

helped me cross the bridge between academia and the workplace. It is incredibly different to 

read about something in a textbook and to actually witness it. 

I also grew professionally in my relationships with others. Although the Evanston 

Community Defender Office is a relatively small agency, there were many larger personalities 

present. Each member of the office is very different. I found myself interacting with individuals 

that were unique to each other as well as to myself. I learned how to work and communicate 

with people that have a different way of thinking and working. For example, Mr. Roy is more 

disorganized than I. He is also somewhat of a procrastinator. It is usually very difficult for me 



- to work with someone that is disorganized. However, I learned how to develop a positive 

working relationship with Mr. Roy. 
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Throughout this internship, I also realized my desire to attend law school. It was an idea 

that I have been thinking about for several years. The opportunity for me to work so closely with 

the lawyers made me realize that law school is something that I truly wish to pursue in the future. 

Examine values, ethics, and prejudices 

My values and ethics were challenged during the course of this internship. I would 

consider myself to be conservative. My co-workers were outspoken liberals and this trait was 

often reflected in their view of situations. The office staff would sometimes make degrading 

comments about republicans. I consider myself to be a republican. Therefore, a value of mine 

was challenged. However, I did not necessary see this as an obstacle. I saw it as an opportunity. 

I was able to learn from their different viewpoint as it challenged mine. 

Ethically, I was faced with certain issues. The most troubling for me was the treatment of 

cases. Whether the client was innocent or guilty, the attorney worked very hard to get the 

lightest punishment for the individual. I understand that is their job. However, I believe that if 

the criminal justice system is going to work effectively, the guilty must be punished. On several 

occasions, the attorneys would write up a motion to eliminate evidence or suppress the arrest 

based on the actions of police officers. Perhaps the police officers did act in a less-than-perfect 

manner. Although I understand due process, it is difficult for me to watch a guilty defendant go 

free without punishment due to a technicality. This also relates to my conservative values that 

were mentioned above. I often viewed cases in a conservative light whereas the office staff 

would always see it from a liberal point-of-view. 
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I do not have many prejudices that I am consciously aware of. Those that I am aware of, 

I try to make sure they do not interfere with my professional life. During this internship, I 

worked with an Asian attorney, a Latino social worker, and predominantly African-American 

clients. However, that is not how I viewed these people. To me, they were each individuals. 

5 

I also worked with indigent youth, the majority of our client base. I was aware before I 

began this internship that I would be working with juvenile defendants. I expected many of them 

to come from broken homes and indigent homes. I suspected many of them were a result of their 

environment. I found this to be true, especially with a certain client. When he was taken out of 

his peer group and off of the street, he had honest ambitions to go to college and stay out of 

trouble. This was true with many of the clients. 

I was somewhat apprehensive to meet with clients at the beginning of my internship. I 

was uncertain as to how I would relate to these young adults that are very different than me. Our 

backgrounds are completely opposite. However, after meeting with the clients, I found that I 

was comfortable with meeting with them. 

Overall, this internship challenged me in many ways, personally and professionally. I 

found that I was able to tum almost every experience into a learning experience. I feel much 

more confident pursuing a career in criminal justice given my experiences at the Evanston 

Community Defender Office. 
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